#### No. S239958

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

CAL FIRE LOCAL 2881 (formerly known as CDF Firefighters), et al.

Petitioners and Appellants,

 $\mathbf{v}$ .

### CALIFORNIA PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM (CalPERS)

Defendant and Respondent,

FILE D

and

JUN 01 2017

THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Intervener and Respondent.

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

On Review From The Court Of Appeal For the First Appellate District, Division Three, Civil No. A142793

After An Appeal From the Superior Court For The State of California, County of Alameda, Case Number RG12661622, Hon. Evelio Grillo, Presiding Judge

#### **OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

This case involves whether the Legislature may eliminate the right of existing state and local public employees to purchase additional service credits pursuant to former Government Code section 20909 ("section 20909"). The Legislature enacted the benefit in 2004, in part to allow employees to take educational and child-rearing leaves of absence without foregoing their pension benefits. It abruptly modified the statute in 2012, to prevent any purchases of additional service credits after December 31, 2012, prompting this action.<sup>2</sup>

Petitioners contend that under this Court's extensive and longstanding vested rights doctrine—dating back to *Allen v. City of Long Beach* (1955) 45 Cal.2d 128, and arguably to *O'Dea v. Cook* (1917) 176 Cal. 659—the repeal of a pension right without providing adversely affected employees with a comparable pension advantage violated the Contracts Clause in article 1, section 9 of the California Constitution. This follows because the right to purchase additional service credits at any point

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All statutory citations are to the Government Code unless expressly stated otherwise.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Strictly speaking, the Legislature modified section 20909 by adding subsection 20909(g) in tandem with a new enactment, section 7522.46, which ended purchases after December 31, 2012; however, as the court of appeal recognized (Slip Op. at p. 6), this "effectively repeal[ed]" the pension right—so Petitioners use the term "repeal" or "repealed" herein to describe the elimination of the right to purchase additional service credit.

prior to retirement was one of a wide array of pension rights under the Public Employees' Retirement Law ("PERL"), section 20000 et seq. When existing employees performed service during periods in which section 20909 was offered as part of their employment terms with the state employer, vested contractual rights were created.

In this Opening Brief, Petitioners argue that under this Court's vested rights precedents (which have been widely and, until recently, invariably followed by the courts of appeal) section 20909 created a vested right. The repeal of section 20909 in 2012 therefore violated employees' vested rights in two distinct ways. First, the Legislature failed to establish that the elimination of the right to purchase additional service credits was necessary to preserve and maintain the pension system. Second, it failed to provide employees who were disadvantaged by repeal with offsetting comparable pension advantages.

This Court has routinely struck down modifications—whether statutory (*Olson v. Cory* (1980) 27 Cal.3d 532) or constitutional (*Legislature v. Eu* (1991) 54 Cal.3d 492)—to vested pension benefits. It should do so again here because no special circumstances warrant abandoning its longstanding precedent.

#### II.

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

- 1. Was the option to purchase additional service credits a vested pension right or benefit?
- 2. Was the repeal of section 20909 necessary to preserve and maintain PERL?
- 3. Did the repeal of section 20909, without providing disadvantaged employees with an offsetting pension advantage, violate the Contracts Clause?

#### III.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The facts in this case are undisputed; accordingly, because the issues presented involve interpretation of statutes and our state Constitution, this Court exercises its independent judgment and reviews the matter *de novo*. (Bd. of Administration of the Public Employees' Retirement System v. Wilson (1997) 52 Cal.App.4th 1109, 1129 ["The ultimate questions of whether vested contractual rights exist and whether impairments are unconstitutional present questions of law subject to independent review"].)

#### IV.

#### FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Petitioners are a labor union and its state employee members whose pension benefits are administered by the California Public Employees'

Retirement System ("CalPERS"). They sued in early 2013, after the Legislature repealed section 20909, a pension statute, which had formerly allowed employees to purchase additional service credit. (Joint Appendix ("JA") at p. 001 [Petition].) Petitioners alleged that the repeal of section 20909 violated the Contracts Clause of the California Constitution. (JA at p. 004.) The lawsuit did not contest the Legislature's right to prevent application of the statute to future employees.

### A. In 2004, The Legislature Created The Right Of Qualifying Employees To Purchase Additional Service Credit

CalPERS is a public pension system, established under PERL, which defines its pension rights exclusively by statute. (Slip Op. at p. 2.)

CalPERS administers benefits and discharges its duties solely in the interest of plan participants and their beneficiaries. (Cal. Const. art. XVI, § 17(b).)

CalPERS' plans provide defined benefits to members based on age at retirement, service credit and final compensation. (See, e.g., § 21363.4 [state firefighters' safety formula].) The more service credit the employee has, the higher will be his or her monthly pension.

The right to purchase service credit began when section 20909 was enacted in 2004, and remained available until December 31, 2012. It permitted a "member who has at least five years of credited state service" to make a one-time purchase of "not less than one year, nor more than five years, in one-year increments, of additional retirement service credit in the

retirement system ... at any time prior to retirement." (§ 20909(a) and (b).) This right to secure additional service credit is not unusual—PERL also allows employees to supplement their service credit with, for example: prior military service (§§ 21032, 21033; see §§ 21020, 21024); certain leaves converted into additional retirement service credit (§ 20898 [credit for holidays, sick leave, vacation, or leave of absence]); and, two years of additional service credit for certain retiring judicial branch state employees (§ 20902.5). In fact, from section 20890 to section 21054, PERL provides dozens of statutes governing the use, crediting and computation of service credit relating to service other than that provided directly to the state.

The opportunity to purchase additional service credits provided advantages to employees:

Being able to purchase [additional service credits] allows members of CalPERS to increase their retirement benefits at no cost to employers. Many members take breaks in employment to raise children, advance their educations, or work in the private sector for a time. For members who do not enter CalPERS covered employment until later in life or who have breaks in service, purchasing [additional service credits] may contribute to providing a livable retirement income.

(JA at pp. 260, 266, 271-272.) Thus, an employee might take three years off to improve her education, to care for a new child or a relative, or might plan to do so, and rely upon section 20909 to allow her to purchase additional service credit so as to allow her to retire without loss of time or

future income level. Because pension benefits are predominately based on length of service and compensation, without the statute employees who take leave either postpone retirement or suffer a reduced pension.

The entire cost of the benefit, if exercised, was designed to be borne by the employee, who was required to "contribute 'an amount equal to the increase in employer liability, using the pay rate and other factors affecting liability on the date of the request for costing of the service credit." (Slip Op. at p. 2, citing § 20909, subds. (a), (b); § 21052; see also *Marzec v*. California Public Employees Retirement System (2015) 236 Cal.App.4th 889, 905 ["... section 21052 provides that if an employee elects to purchase [additional service credit] it is the employee, not the employer, who is required to contribute 'an amount equal to the increase in employer liability"].) The "increase in employer liability" was calculated as the "present value of the projected increase in liability to the CalPERS system." (§ 21052; Assem. Bill No. 719, 2nd reading Aug. 18, 2003, Bill Analysis, p. 2.) This right nonetheless benefitted employees because it gave them the option of turning savings into defined pension benefits.

### B. CalPERS Recognized And Publicized That The Right To Purchase Additional Service Credit Was A Vested Right

CalPERS' role administering pensions gives it special expertise in interpreting pension laws. (*People ex. rel. Lungren v. Superior Court* (1996) 14 Cal.4th 294, 309 ["contemporaneous administrative construction"

of [an] enactment by those charged with its enforcement ... is entitled to great weight"], quoting *Coca–Cola Co. v. State Bd. of Equalization* (1945) 25 Cal.2d 918, 921.) CalPERS agreed with Petitioners that section 20909 created vested rights. Its 2011 publication "Vested Rights of CalPERS Members: Protecting the Pension Promises Made to Public Employees" was widely-read and remained on its website, unaltered, until at least December 21, 2016.<sup>3</sup> CalPERS recognized that the right to purchase additional service credits vests immediately when offered:

#### RULE 1:

Employees Are Entitled To Benefits In Place During Their Employment

Public employees obtain a vested right to the provisions of the applicable retirement law that exist during the course of their public employment. Promised benefits may be increased during employment, but not decreased, absent the employees' consent.

These rules apply to all active CalPERS members, whether or not they have yet performed the requirements necessary to qualify for certain benefits that are part of the applicable retirement law. For example, even if a member has not yet satisfied the five year minimum service prerequisite to receiving most service and disability benefits, the member's right to qualify for those benefits upon

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The publication remained on CalPERS website until at least December 21, 2016 (the day before the court of appeal heard oral argument) at <a href="https://www.Calpers.ca.gov/docs/forms-publications/vested-rights-members-pdf">www.Calpers.ca.gov/docs/forms-publications/vested-rights-members-pdf</a>. It was subsequently removed.

completion of five years of service vests as soon as the member starts work.

(JA at p. 229, emphasis added.) More specifically, CalPERS described the right to "Purchase service credit under the terms that existed in the law when they provided service, if the member satisfies all eligibility requirements" as one of eleven defined vested rights. (JA at p. 234.) Individual petitioners' reliance on the future ability to purchase is set forth in the record. (JA at p. 160.)

### C. The Legislature Repealed Section 20909 And Petitioners Filed Suit

On January 1, 2013, section 7522.46 became effective as part of the Public Employees' Pension Reform Act of 2013 ("PEPRA"). PEPRA significantly changed public employee pensions for *future* employees, including reducing pension formulas. (See Legis. Counsel's Dig., Assem. Bill No. 340 (2011-2012 Reg. Sess.).) But section 7522.46 added subsection 20909(g), which eliminated the right of *current and future* employees to purchase service credit.

It is uncontested that the Legislature offered no comparable pension advantages to existing employees who were disadvantaged by repeal.

Moreover, in passing PEPRA the Legislature failed to make any specific finding that repeal of section 20909—or any other part of PEPRA—was necessary to preserve and maintain the integrity of the system.

## D. The Trial Court Determined Section 20909 Created No Vested Rights

Petitioners sued in the Superior Court of Alameda County seeking to compel CalPERS to allow future purchases of service credits for qualifying employees employed as of December 31, 2012. (JA at p. 166.) Among the Petitioners is one firefighter who missed eligibility to purchase additional service credits by 16 days (JA at pp. 158, 164), and others who provided five years of service, and planned to purchase additional service credits, but were financially unable to do so before December 31, 2012. (JA at pp. 157-158.) CalPERS declined to defend the legislation, so Respondent State of California intervened, without opposition, to defend it.

The trial court held a hearing on the petition on February 24, 2014. Several months later, on May 12, 2014, the trial court issued a final order and on June 5, 2014 an amended final order, both denying the petition.

In its order the trial court made a number of erroneous determinations. It concluded that: even if section 20909 created a vested pension right, "the Legislature lawfully eliminated the benefit as a permissible modification to a pension plan" (JA at p. 390); the adoption of sections 7522.46 and 20909(g) "were materially related to the theory and successful operation of a pension system because they restricted the pension system to providing retirement benefits based on work performed" (JA at p. 391); the Legislature did not intend to create a vested right

because the phrase "at any time" in subsection 20909(b) meant only at any time the statute was in effect (JA at pp. 397-400); and no service was provided in exchange for the right to purchase additional service credit or for the additional service credit itself. (JA at p. 400.)

The trial court entered judgment against Petitioners on June 19, 2014. (JA at pp. 428-429.)

E. The Court Of Appeal Held That Pension Reductions Need Not Be Offset By Comparable Benefits So Long As Employees Retain A "Reasonable" Pension

On appeal, Petitioners relied on this Court's longstanding vested rights jurisprudence. (AOB at pp. 11-12.) The State did not contest that body of law but argued that the right to purchase service credits was an "option," not a pension benefit. (State's Br. at p. 13.) It reasoned that if the employee bore the cost of the benefit, this right to purchase neither qualified as a deferred compensation nor a pension benefit, and consequently the Legislature could freely repeal the statute. (*Id.* at p. 15.) Oral argument occurred on December 21, 2016.

On December 30, 2016, the court of appeal issued its opinion rejecting Petitioners' claims. First, it faulted section 20909 for failing to "unambiguously state[] an intent by the Legislature to create a vested pension right." (Slip Op. at p. 9, citing *Retired Employees Ass'n of Orange County, Inc. v. County of Orange* (2011) 52 Cal.4th 1171, 1190.) Without such a statement, reasoned the lower court, the Legislature's "continuing

government power" allowed it to eliminate the benefit. (Slip Op. at pp. 7-9.)

Second, accepting for the sake of argument that vested pension rights were created, the lower court held that "California law is quite clear that the Legislature may indeed modify or eliminate vested pension rights in certain cases." (Slip Op. at p. 10.) The lower court cited older decisions of this Court for the proposition that the "government entity providing the pension may make reasonable modifications and changes in the pension system ... [t]o maintain the integrity of the system and carry out its beneficent purpose." (Slip Op. at p. 10, quoting Kern v. City of Long Beach (1947) 29 Cal.2d 848, 854-855 and citing Wallace v. City of Fresno (1954) 42 Cal.2d 180 and Packer v. Board of Retirement (1950) 35 Cal.2d 212.) But when it confronted the critical additional component of pension law that "changes in a pension plan which result in disadvantage to employees should be accompanied by comparable new advantages" (Slip Op. at p. 11, quoting Betts v. Board of Administration (1978) 21 Cal.3d 859, 864 [italics in the original])—the lower court fell back on Marin Association of Public Employees, et al. v. Marin County Employees' Retirement Association, et al. (2016) 2 Cal. App. 5th 674, 704-705 (review granted, California Supreme Court. Case No. S237460) and its view that so long as pension reductions do not destroy a public employee's pension, the Legislature is not

foreclosed by the Contracts Clause from making modifications. (Slip Op. at p. 12, n. 5, and pp. 13-16.)

Third, it accepted the State's argument that any purchase of service credits under section 20909 was not deferred compensation and therefore was not a pension benefit. (Slip Op. at p 13; but see *Marzec*, *supra*, 236 Cal.App.4th at p. 905 [right to purchase service credit pursuant to section 20909 "is a benefit that was offered to some individuals who were already members of CalPERS"].) Despite the statute requiring that employees provide five years of service before being eligible to exercise their right to purchase service credit, the Court concluded that the benefit was "wholly unrelated" to service. (*Id.*)

V.

## LONGSTANDING PRINCIPLES GOVERN PUBLIC EMPLOYEE PENSION RIGHTS

A. A Vested Contractual Right To Pension Benefits Accrues Upon
A Public Employee's Acceptance Of Employment

Unlike other terms of public employment, which are wholly a matter of statute, pension rights are obligations protected by the Contracts Clause of the federal and state Constitutions. (U.S. Const., art. I, § 10, cl. 1; Cal. Const., art. I, § 9 ["a law impairing the obligation of contracts may not be passed"]; *United Firefighters of Los Angeles City v. City of Los Angeles* (1989) 210 Cal.App.3d 1095, 1102.) "A public employee's pension constitutes an element of compensation, and a vested contractual right to

pension benefits accrues upon acceptance of employment. Such a pension right may not be destroyed, once vested, without impairing a contractual obligation of the employing public entity." (*Betts, supra*, 21 Cal.3d at p. 863; *Allen v. City of Long Beach* (1955) 45 Cal.2d 128, 131; *Kern, supra*, 29 Cal.2d at p. 855 ["employing governmental body may not deny or impair the contingent liability [of pensions] any more than it can refuse to make the salary payments which are immediately due"].) These rights vest in the sense that they cannot be destroyed by statutory repeal—even before the benefit has been accessed or the time for retirement has arrived. (*Kern, supra*, 29 Cal.2d at pp. 855-856; *Wallace, supra*, 42 Cal.2d at p. 183.)

This follows because, from the moment an employee begins service, the pension is part of the contemplated compensation and part of the contract of employment itself. (*Kern, supra*, 29 Cal.2d at pp. 855-856; *Wallace, supra*, 42 Cal.2d at p. 183; *O'Dea, supra*, 176 Cal. at pp. 661-662.) Moreover, public employees have the "right to earn future pension benefits through continued service, on terms substantially equivalent to those" existing at the time they began working, or added at any point during their service. (*Legislature v. Eu, supra*, 54 Cal.3d at p. 528; *Sweesy v. Los Angeles County Peace Officers' Retirement Board* (1941) 17 Cal.2d 356, 361 [public employees entitled to subsequent benefit increases]; *Carman v. Alvord* (1982) 31 Cal.3d 318, 325 ["[b]y entering public service an

employee earns a vested contractual right to earn a pension on terms substantially equivalent to those then offered by the employer"].)

## B. Modifications To Vested Pension Benefits Are Controlled By A Strict And Longstanding Rule

While the constitutional proscription against the destruction of vested contractual pension rights "does not absolutely prohibit their modification" (*Allen v. Board of Administration* (1983) 34 Cal.3d 114, 120), lawmakers' power to modify pension rights, once vested, is "quite limited." (*In re Retirement Cases* (2003) 110 Cal.App.4th 426, 447.) Over a series of cases from *Allen v. City of Long Beach, supra*, 45 Cal.2d 128 to *Legislature v. Eu, supra*, 54 Cal.3d 492, this Court developed what has become known as "the California Rule":

With respect to active employees ... any modification of vested pension rights must be reasonable, must bear a material relation to the theory and successful operation of a pension system, and, when resulting in a disadvantage to employees, must be accompanied by comparable new advantages. [Citations.] As to retired employees, the scope of continuing governmental power may be more restricted, the retiree being entitled to the fulfillment without detrimental modification of the contract which he already has performed.

(Allen v. Board of Administration, supra, 34 Cal.3d at p. 120 [disadvantageous amendments to pension plan ruled unconstitutional]; see also Abbott v. City of Los Angeles (1958) 50 Cal.2d 438 [amendment

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