### In the Supreme Court of the State of California

Cal Fire Local 2881, et al.,

Petitioners and Appellants,

v.

California Public Employees' Retirement System (CalPERS),

**Defendant and Respondent,** 

and

The State of California,

Intervener and Respondent.

Case No. S239958

SUPREME COURT FILED

NOV 07 2017

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

First Appellate District Division Three, Case No. A142793 Alameda County Superior Court, Case No. RG12661622 The Honorable Evelio Martin Grillo, Presiding Judge

### INTERVENER AND RESPONDENT STATE OF CALIFORNIA'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

PETER A. KRAUSE
Legal Affairs Secretary
\*REI R. ONISHI
Deputy Legal Affairs Secretary
State Bar No. 283946

#### INTRODUCTION

Twenty years ago, federal tax law began allowing state and local public pensions systems to sell additional, fictional years of retirement service credit to their members. When purchased and added to an employee's years of actual service, this "airtime" artificially increased the number of years used to calculate the employee's pension.

In 2003, the California Legislature enacted legislation granting many public employees in the state the option to purchase airtime. The legislation was premised on the assumption that it would cost public employers nothing—employees electing to participate were supposed to pay both their share and their employers' share of the full present cost of future pension benefit increases. Over the program's first several years, however, serious flaws emerged. Allowing employees to inflate their pensions with airtime undermined the principle that public pensions rewarded faithful public service and fueled cynicism about public employee pensions. To compound matters, many public employees used the program to retire earlier than they otherwise would have, exacerbating already severe shortages of educational staff, correctional staff, and firefighters throughout the state. And because the actuarial assumptions being used to price airtime failed to account for early retirements, as well as other factors, airtime was wildly underpriced for many years. Employees could purchase airtime often as much as 40 percent below the actual cost. That, in turn, increased unfunded liability in the pension system and imposed heavy unexpected financial obligations on public employers—exactly the opposite of what the Legislature had envisioned.

These facts came to light in the midst of the worst economic downturn in the state and nation since the Great Depression. That downturn hit California's public pension systems especially hard. For years, self-interested practices, overly generous promises whose true costs were often

shrouded by flawed actuarial analyses, and failures of public leadership had caused unsustainable public pension liabilities. When investment returns abruptly fell off a cliff, unfunded liabilities skyrocketed. Estimates placed unfunded pension liabilities in California in the hundreds of billions of dollars, far exceeding any other state in the nation.

Governor Brown and the Legislature responded to this crisis by enacting the Public Employees' Pension Reform Act of 2013 (PEPRA). PEPRA addressed the problem of unfunded liabilities primarily by reducing the benefits offered to new employees. But it also reformed some laws and practices enjoyed by current employees, including the law offering airtime for sale. Effective January 1, 2013, and after providing eligible employees one final 15-week opportunity to purchase airtime, PEPRA withdrew the airtime offer. Employees who had already purchased airtime, or did so before January 1, 2013, were not affected.

Cal Fire Local 2881 and several of its members (together, the Union) filed this lawsuit, alleging that the legislative repeal of the airtime statute violated the California Constitution's contract clause as applied to any employee hired before January 1, 2013. As both the trial court and Court of Appeal held, that claim lacks merit.

As a threshold matter, the statutory offer to sell airtime did not create a vested contract right. The Legislature is generally free to amend or repeal any law. A party alleging that the contract clause bars the Legislature from repealing a statute must provide clear and unequivocal evidence to overcome the presumption that the Legislature did not intend to create a vested contractual obligation. Here, there is no evidence that the Legislature intended to extend an *irrevocable* offer to purchase airtime and prevent future legislators from adjusting benefits for the fiscal health of the state's pension system. Unlike the narrow set of laws that have been held to impliedly create pension rights protected by the contract clause, the

statutory option to purchase airtime bears no resemblance to deferred compensation earned in exchange for work performed. The airtime purchase option was therefore not a "pension right," subject to heightened protection under the contract clause. Especially when unfunded liabilities of California's public pension systems are at record levels and rising rapidly, the Union's attempt to radically *expand* the scope of the vested rights doctrine should be rejected.

Furthermore, even if this Court were to assume that the Legislature created a vested right to purchase airtime, the Legislature was free to withdraw it. Withdrawing the offer did not substantially impair employees' right to a substantial or reasonable pension, or their reasonable expectations. And even a law substantially impairing a contract will generally stand if it was reasonable and necessary to serve an important public purpose. The law here easily meets this test. Ending the costly, imperfect practice of selling additional "service credit" untethered to service was necessary to re-align pension benefits with public service, eliminate a cause of premature retirements, and address a well-established source of unfunded liabilities never intended by the Legislature. And because the mere offer to sell airtime conferred no cash value, withdrawing the offer from employees who never purchased airtime did not materially disadvantage anyone.

This Court should affirm the Court of Appeal's judgment.

#### **BACKGROUND**

#### I. PUBLIC PENSIONS IN CALIFORNIA

Pensions represent compensation that is earned through service and deferred for payment during retirement. (*Packer v. Board of Retirement of Los Angeles County Peace Officers' Retirement System* (1950) 35 Cal.2d 212, 215.) The Public Employees' Retirement Law (PERL) provides the

legal framework for the pensions of most state employees and established the California Public Employees' Retirement System (CalPERS). (Cal. Const., art. XVI, § 17; Gov. Code, § 20120.)<sup>1</sup> CalPERS is the nation's largest public employee pension system, administering the pension benefits of most state government employees as well as employees of local governments that contract with CalPERS for the provision of pension benefits.

Public employee pensions are typically calculated using a formula set in statute that multiplies the number of years of service, final compensation, and an age-based multiplier, yielding a "defined benefit" for the employee. Most of the employees represented in this case by Cal Fire Local 2881 (and all the individual petitioners who have not yet retired) are expecting benefits using a "3%-at-50" formula. (§ 21363.4.)Under that formula, an employee who retires at age 50 with 30 years of service credit and \$100,000 in final compensation would receive a \$90,000 annual pension for the rest of his or her life (30 [years in service] x \$100,000 [annual salary] x .03 [age-based multiplier] = \$90,000 [annual pension]). A cost-of-living adjustment and purchasing power protection allowance further annually augment the employee's pension, ensuring that its value is not diminished by inflation. (§§ 21329, 21337.)

Pensions are funded by combining regular contributions from both the employee and his or her employer, and investing the funds over the employee's career. In theory, the contributions for that employee plus investment returns are supposed to cover the cost of the employee's pension benefits. In practice, however, it is difficult to predict how many years a given employee will work, what salary increases the employee will achieve during that span, what returns the investment of contributions will

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All further undesignated references are to the Government Code.

earn annually, and how long an employee will live after retiring. As a result, the respective monthly contributions of employees and employers are calculated using a number of general assumptions. (See e.g., Joint Appendix (JA) 312.) These assumptions sometimes prove inaccurate over time (JA 316-317 [noting need to adjust actuarial assumptions after study of "recent patterns of termination, death, disability, retirement, and salary increases"]), creating shortfalls between promised pension benefits and the revenues generated by member contributions and investment earnings. In such cases, the assumptions are adjusted, but the employer is responsible for covering the prior shortfalls and is legally obligated to make further contributions. (See, e.g., JA 283 [noting one way in which shortfalls may result, forcing an increase in employer liability].)

PERL also conforms itself to the requirements of the federal tax code to ensure CalPERS's federal tax-exempt status. (§ 21750 et seq.)

#### II. FEDERAL TAX LAW AUTHORIZES AIRTIME

Since 1997, federal tax law has permitted (but not required) public pension programs to offer employees who have worked for at least five years the opportunity to purchase additional years of service credit in order to artificially increase the base rate used to calculate a pension. (26 U.S.C. § 415(n)(3)(C).) This "nonqualified service credit" (*ibid.*) is commonly referred to as "airtime" "because it does not correspond to any service actually performed" (JA 264). Federal tax law further allows employees to purchase airtime using accumulated savings in tax-deferred retirement plans, such as 401(k) and 457 plans. (JA 256.)

In 1997, the Legislature enacted legislation to allow members of the California State Teachers Retirement System to purchase up to five years of airtime. (Ed. Code, § 22826 [Stats. 1997, ch. 569, § 2].)

#### III. THE STATE ENACTS THE AIRTIME LAW

In 2003, the Legislature passed laws expanding airtime beyond the teaching profession. As relevant here, AB 719 allowed members of CalPERS systems to purchase up to five years of airtime. (Assem. Bill No. 719 (2003-2004 Reg. Sess.) § 1.)<sup>2</sup> Governor Gray Davis signed AB 719 into law on October 11, 2003.

In its bill analysis for AB 719, CalPERS contrasted the proposed airtime program with programs in which purchase of retirement service credit is associated with time in service—such as time that an employee worked for the employer before the employer joined the CalPERS system. (JA 270.) In those programs, employees pay the equivalent of their normal retirement contributions, with interest, for the covered period, and the employer pays the balance. (*Ibid.*) Under AB 719, however, the time purchased would not correspond to time in service. And because employers would not "directly benefit" from the fictional time purchased, employees were supposed to pay both the employee and employer shares of the full present value of the benefit increase. (JA 270-271.) Consequently, CalPERS claimed that the program should cost public employers nothing. (JA 271.) Legislative analyses concurred in CalPERS's conclusion, and pointed out that proponents of the law claimed the same. (JA 259-260 [AB 719 Senate Floor Analysis]; JA 255 [AB 719 Assembly Committee Analysis].)

AB 719 was enacted as an amendment to the PERL. (§ 20909 [Stats. 2003, ch. 838, § 1]; see also § 20000.) Section 20909 extended to active employees with at least five years of service credit a one-time offer to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> AB 55 similarly allowed members of systems established pursuant to the County Employees' Retirement Law of 1937 to purchase up to five years of airtime. (Assem. Bill No. 55 (2003-2004 Reg. Sess.) § 1.) Like AB 719, it was signed into law. (§ 31658 [Stats. 2003, ch. 261, § 3].)

purchase up to an additional five years of service credit, in one-year increments. (§ 20909, subds. (a), (e)(1).) To accept the offer, an employee had to pay "an amount equal to the increase in employer liability." (§ 21052; see also §§ 20909, subd. (b), 21050, subd. (a.). Notably, airtime could not be used to meet the minimum legal qualifications for retirement or any benefits, such as healthcare benefits, that are based on years of service. (§ 20909, subds. (b)-(c).)

CalPERS published an employee guide to purchasing airtime. (JA 273-281.) It informed members that they would "pay the entire cost of the estimated increase in their future retirement income." (JA 273.) It also notified them that the offer could not be accepted after separating from state service or if "repealed by future legislation." (JA 274.)

Seven years after enactment, CalPERS issued a report reviewing the airtime program. (JA 312-321.) The report noted that in the three-year period from June 30, 2004 to June 30, 2007, the vast majority of eligible employees did not elect to purchase airtime; still, over 33,000 employees did. (JA 313.) Analysis of the transactions showed that, due to inaccurate assumptions, employees were consistently and substantially underpaying for airtime. (JA 317-321 [showing airtime was underpriced, on average, by at least 11-28 percent].) It also found that employees who purchased airtime tended to retire sooner than employees who did not. Among school staff eligible for retirement, for example, those who bought airtime were *three* times more likely to have retired during the study period than those who did not. (JA 314.)

### IV. THE STATE'S FISCAL CRISIS AND INCREASING UNFUNDED LIABILITIES LEAD TO REPEAL OF THE STATUTE

Around the time CalPERS reported the unintended consequences of the airtime program, California was wrestling with multi-billion dollar budget deficits year after year, and the staggering unfunded liabilities of public pension programs across the state became a matter of increasingly urgent and widespread public concern. (See San Joaquin County Correctional Officers Association v. County of San Joaquin (2016) 6 Cal.App.5th 1090, 1095 (County of San Joaquin).) Some estimates placed unfunded liabilities in the hundreds of billions of dollars. (Marin Association of Public Employees v. Marin County Employees' Retirement Association (2016) 2 Cal.App.5th 674, 680-681 (Marin County), review granted Nov. 22, 2016 (S237460).)<sup>3</sup>

A 2011 report by the Little Hoover Commission advised the Governor and the Legislature that "California's pension plans are dangerously underfunded, the result of overly generous benefit promises, wishful thinking and an unwillingness to plan prudently." (*County of San Joaquin, supra*, 6 Cal.App.5th at p. 1095, quoting Little Hoover Com., Public Pensions for Retirement Security (Feb. 2011) (*Little Hoover Com.*).) ""Unless aggressive reforms are implemented now," the report warned, "the problem will get far worse, forcing counties and cities to severely reduce services and lay off employees to meet pension obligations." (*Ibid.*) The Commission urged the State to "exercise its authority—and establish the legal authority—to reset overly generous and unsustainable pension formulas for both current and future workers." (*Marin County, supra*, 2 Cal.App.5th at pp. 681-682, quoting Little Hoover Com., *supra*, at p. 53.)<sup>4</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> As many experts have noted, actual pension costs are frequently "shrouded." (See generally Glaeser & Ponzetto, *Shrouded Costs of Government: The Political Economy of State and Local Pensions* (April 2013) National Bureau of Economic Research < <a href="http://www.nber.org/papers/w18976.pdf">http://www.nber.org/papers/w18976.pdf</a> > [as of Nov. 6, 2017).)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Commission emphasized that "[t]he problem . . . cannot be solved without addressing the pension liabilities of current employees. . . . To provide *immediate savings of the scope needed*, state and local (continued...)

In response to these concerns, Governor Edmund G. Brown Jr. proposed a Twelve Point Pension Reform Plan. (JA 387.)<sup>5</sup> The plan was designed to "put California on a more sustainable path to providing fair public retirement benefits" (*Ibid.* [fn. 1]). Point 10 called for ending the sale of airtime. Pensions should correspond to work "actually" performed, the Governor explained, not time that had merely been purchased. (*Ibid.*, quoting Governor's October 27, 2011 plan.) Employers and taxpayers "should not bear the burden of guaranteeing the additional employee investment risk that comes with airtime purchases." (*Ibid.*)

Like the Governor, the Legislature "heard, and agreed" with the concerns about the enormous unfunded liabilities of the state's pension systems, and enacted PEPRA in response. (*Marin County*, *supra*, 2 Cal.App.5th at p. 682 [citing § 7522 et seq., Stats. 2012, ch. 296].) The law adopted nine of the twelve points set forth in the Governor's reform plan, including the proposal to withdraw the airtime offer. (JA 387.)

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